### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 94,365

ALEX PAGAN,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

### AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT ALEX PAGAN

### On Appeal From The Imposition Of The Sentences Of Death By Electrocution By The Circuit Court In And For Broward County, Florida Case No.: 93-3648 CF10B Honorable Susan Lebow

RICHARD L. ROSENBAUM, ESQ. LAW OFFICES OF RICHARD L. ROSENBAUM Attorney for Appellant One East Broward Boulevard, Suite 1500 Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301 Telephone (954) 522-7000 Florida Bar No.: 394688

Alex Pagan v. State of Florida Case No. 94,365

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The following symbols, abbreviations, and references will be utilized throughout this Initial Brief of Appellant, Alex Pagan:

The term "Appellant" shall refer to the Defendant in the Circuit Court below, Alex Pagan.

The term "Appellee" shall refer to the Plaintiff in the Circuit Court below, the State of Florida.

Record on appeal in this case contains pleadings and transcripts. There are six (6) volumes of pleadings contained in pages 1 through 1177. Citations to the pleadings contained in the Record on appeal shall be indicated by an "R" followed by the appropriate page number

(R). Transcripts of hearings and proceedings are contained in 32 volumes, pages 1 through 3848. Citations to the transcript of the hearings, trial, and sentencing proceedings shall be indicated by a "T" followed by the appropriate page number (T).

All emphasis indicated herein have been supplied by the Appellant unless otherwise specified.

1

### **ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. Whether the Evidence was Insufficient to Support Alex Pagan's Convictions; Whether The Trial Court Erred in Refusing to Grant a Judgment of Acquittal at the Close of the State's Case and Close of the Evidence, or in Refusing to Order a New Trial; and Whether Evidentiary Errors Singularly and/or Cumulatively Warrant a New Trial?
- II. Whether the Evidence Was Insufficient To Support Alex Pagan's Convictions?
- III. Whether the Trial Court Reversibly Erred in Allowing <u>Williams</u> Rule Evidence Concerning a January 23, 1993 Burglary That Was Dissimilar Factually And Temporally?
- IV. Whether the Trial Court Erred in Denying The Defendant's Motion to Suppress Physical Evidence?
- V. Whether the Trial Court Reversibly Erred by Refusing to Grant a New Trial And Refusing to Declare a Mistrial When The Prosecutor Impermissibly Bolstered The Credibility of a State Witness?
- VI. Whether the Trial Court Reversibly Erred by Allowing a Surreptitiously Recorded Hearsay Conversation in Violation of Alex Pagan's State And Federal Constitutional Rights?
- VII. Whether the Trial Court Reversibly Erred by Denying Alex Pagan's Motion For New Trial And Upholding The State's <u>Batson</u> Challenge to a Juror?
- VIII. Whether the Trial Court Reversibly Erred in Refusing to Order a New Trial?
- IX. Whether the Trial Court Reversibly Erred in Refusing to Grant One or More of Alex Pagan's Motions for Mistrial?
- X Whether the Trial Court Reversibly Erred in Permitting Prejudicial Inflammatory Photographs of the Deceased to Be Shown to the Jury?

### **ISSUES ON APPEAL (cont'd)**

- XI. Whether the Trial Court Reversibly Erred by Denying a Motion for New Trial Based upon a <u>Richardson</u> Violation When Testimony Concerning A Voice Line-up Was Permitted?
- XII. Whether the Trial Court Reversibly Erred by Denying the Defendant's Motion for Mistrial When the Prosecutor in Closing Argument Made References to the Golden Rule with Respect to Improper Inflammatory Reference to Preventing the Defendant from Committing Crimes Again?
- XIII. Whether the Trial Court Reversibly Erred in Denying the Defendant's Motion for Mistrial When the Prosecutor in Closing Argument Made Reference to a Camouflage Jacket from the Desert Storm War Which Was Not in Evidence, and Which Was High Prejudicial to the Defense?
- XIV. Whether the Trial Court Reversibly Erred by Permitting Over Defense Objection Testimony of Keith Jackson Concerning The Death of a Six (6) Year Old Child?
- XV. Whether the Trial Court Reversibly Erred in Overruling Objections And Permitting The Medical Examiner to Express Expert Opinions on Glass Without Any Predicate When The Medical Examiner Lacked The Qualifications to Give Expert Opinions on The Characteristics of the Glass Manufacturer, Its Composition, And Whether Someone Would Be Injured Breaking Through Glass?
- XVI. Whether the Trial Court Reversibly Erred in Granting the State's Motion for a Voice Line-up and in Allowing Testimony Relating to the Voice Line-up?
- XVII. Whether Cumulative Errors Require Reversal And Remand?
- XVIII. Whether Reversal is Required as Alex Pagan's Death Sentence is Disproportionate?

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On February 23, 1993, a home invasion robbery left Freddy Jones and his son, Michael Lynn dead and his wife, Latoshia Jones and their infant son, Lafayette Jones, seriously injured.

On February 27, 1993, search and arrest warrants were issued by the Honorable Sheldon M. Shapiro, circuit court judge, calling for the arrest of Alejandro Ramirez for the murder of Freddy Jones and Michael Lynn while engaged in the perpetration of a robbery and the attempted murder of two (2) other individuals (R 1). A Probable Cause Affidavit was issued as to Alex Pagan, a/k/a Alejandro Ramirez (R 2). Alex Pagan was arrested the same date and on February 28, 1993 the Honorable Lawrence Korda, circuit court judge, found that probable cause existed and that Alex Pagan should be held to answer charges surrounding two (2) Counts of murder in the first degree and two (2) Counts of attempted murder (R 3). 23 year old Alex Pagan, a white male weighing 180 pounds, five (5) foot 11 inches tall, was held in custody without bond (R 4). He remains in custody ever since.

On March 25, 1993, an Indictment was returned in the 17<sup>th</sup> Judicial Circuit of the State of Florida charging Willie Graham a/k/a Shaikwam a/k/a Shay and Alex

Pagan a/k/a Lex<sup>1</sup> with the premeditated murder of six (6) year old Michael Lynn with a firearm contrary to Section 782.04, Florida Statutes (Count I), and with the premeditated murder of Freddy Lafayette Jones with a firearm contrary to the same statute (Count II) ( R 5-8). Both of the Defendants were likewise charged in Counts III and IV with the attempted murder of Latoshia Jones and Lafayette Jones. Both Co-Defendants were additionally charged with the offense of unlawful entering the structure to commit the offense of armed robbery or grand theft contrary to Section 810.02, Florida Statutes (Count V) and with unlawfully taking a 1988 Jeep Cherokee with the intent to deprive Latoshia Jones and/or Freddy Jones of the property by force, violence, assault or putting them in fear, and in the course thereof, carrying a firearm or other deadly weapon contrary to Sections 812.13 and 775.087, Florida Statutes ( R 5-8).

A Not Guilty Plea was entered.

In April 1993, the Defendant filed a Motion to Dismiss the Indictment based upon Rule 3.190(b), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. The defense noted that Alex Pagan was arrested pursuant to a warrant authorizing the arrest of Alejandro Ramirez. The defense asserted that the arrest of Alex Pagan on a warrant issued for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The State agreed to strike the alleged alias from the Indictment prior to trial (T 775).

another individual raised the presumption that unlawfully obtained evidence was presented to the grand jury. Further, a potential defense witness, Antonio Quezada was assaulted and battered by Miramar Police in an attempt to get the witness to change his statement concerning this case. The defense asserted that the use of physical violence by State law enforcement officers in order to divert evidence prior to the impanelment of the grand jury raised the presumption that illegally obtained evidence was presented to the grand jury ( R 45-50). Subsequently, the Defendant filed an amended Motion to Discharge the Grand Jury ( R 57-62). An Order Denying Motion to Dismiss Indictment was entered by the court ( R 117).

Discovery ensued with the State's submission of discovery documents and supplemental discovery materials ( R 93-100; 101; 103-4; 105-6; 107-8; 112; 113; 123-5; 126-7; 133; 140-1; 147; 148-9; 150; 152; 155; 157-8; 161-2; 166-7; 173; 175-6; 184-9; 349-50; 407-8; 423-7; 431-2; 437; 448-63; 490-2; 567-70; 863)

In December 1993, the State filed its Notice of Intent to Offer Evidence of Other Crimes (R 180-1). Specifically, the State notified the defense that pursuant to Section 90.404(2) it intended to offer evidence that:

On or about January 22, 1993, Willie D. Graham and Alex Pagan did unlawfully enter or remain in a structure to wit: a dwelling located at 7941 Ramona Street, property of Freddy and Latoshia Jones, with intent to commit therein the offense of theft, to wit: the obtaining, using, or endeavoring or use the property of another, said property being of value, with the intent to permanently deprive the owner or any other person of said property or the use and benefit thereof contrary to Section 810.02(1) and 810.02(3).

(R 180-1)

The State further alleged that on or about the same date Willie D. Graham and Alex Pagan:

Did unlawfully obtain or endeavor to obtain the property of Freddy and Latoshia Jones to wit: jewelry, cash, and clothing with the intent to either permanently or temporarily appropriate the property to their own use or the use of any person not entitled thereto contrary to Section 812.014(b) and 812.014(2)(c), Florida Statutes. <u>Id</u>.

On December 3, 17, and 20, 1993, hearings on pretrial motions were conducted. Specifically, the court heard evidence and argument concerning a Motion to Suppress Statements. The court ruled that statements given in the police officer lobby should be suppressed, but denied the motion in all other respects ( R 182).

Several motions attacking Section 921.141, Florida Statutes as being unconstitutional were filed pretrial. For example, the defense attacked Section 921.141(5)(d) claiming that aggravating circumstance 5(d) was unconstitutionally over broad, arbitrary, and capricious on its face and violated the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, Sections 2, 9, and 16 of the Florida Constitution (R 192-9). The defense likewise filed a Motion to Declare Section 921.141, Florida Statutes Unconstitutional

because the death penalty in Florida is imposed in an arbitrary, discriminatory manner (R 200-39). A Motion to Declare Sections 921.141 and 922.10, Florida Statutes Unconstitutional was likewise filed (R 273-81). Similarly, the defense filed a Motion to Declare Sections 782.04 and 921.141 Unconstitutional (R 282-6; 287-93). Various other attacks were lodged. See Motion to Declare Section 921.141(5)(i) Unconstitutional (R 294-317); Defendant's Motion to Declare Section 921.141(5)(h) Unconstitutional (R 318-26); Defendant's Motion to Declare Section 921.141 Unconstitutional as Applied (R 327-48); Defendant's Motion to Declare Section 921.141 and 921.141(5)(c) Unconstitutional Facially and as Applied (R 351-7); Defendant's Motion to Declare Section 921.141(5)(g) and/or The Standard Jury Instruction Unconstitutional Facially and as Applied (R 367-74); Defendant's Motion to Declare Section 921.141 and/or Section 921.141(5)(e) Unconstitutional (R 375-85); Defendant's Motion to Declare Section 921.141 and/or 921.141(5)(f) Unconstitutional (R 386-92) and attacking 921.141(5)(b) (R 393-400). Each of the motions were denied (R 689-93; 694-703; 704-11; 712-36; 737-67; 777-85; 786-808; 805-9; 822-9; 830-40; 841-8; 849-55; 856-61).

In January 1994 a Motion for Bill of Particulars was filed by the defense (R 264-5).

In April 1994 the Defendant filed a Motion to Suppress Physical Evidence (

R 401-6). Subsequently, the defense filed a Motion to Suppress Statements ( R 410-11) and a Motion in Limine seeking to prohibit the State from introducing evidence pursuant to Section 90.404(2), Florida Statutes ( R 414-7). Thereafter, another Motion to Suppress Statements was filed ( R 444-5). Similarly, a defense Motion in Limine regarding <u>Williams</u><sup>2</sup> Rule evidence was likewise filed ( R 446-7).

In late 1994, the court severed Willie Graham's trial from Alex Pagan's. Willie Graham was found guilty on all Counts as charged. He was sentenced to life on Counts I and II, and 30 years each on Counts III, IV, V, and VI. All sentences are to be served concurrently. On appeal in <u>Graham v. State</u>, 699 So. 2d 697 (4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1997), the judgment, conviction, and sentences were affirmed, <u>per curiam</u>. Willie Graham's Petition for Review was subsequently dismissed by the Florida Supreme Court in <u>Graham v. State</u>, 705 So. 2d 8 (Fla. 1997).

In early 1995, a Motion to Suppress Admissions and/or Confessions was filed by the defense (R 465-6). Following hearings, the court entered an Order denying the Defendant's Motion to Suppress Physical Evidence and an Order denying Defendant's Motion to Suppress Admissions and/or Confessions (R 487-8). In

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup><u>Williams v. State</u>, 110 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 1959), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u> 361 U.S. 847 (1959).

October 1996, the State filed its Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty (R 591-2).

The case proceeded to trial on November 4, 1996. The State presented testimony and evidence and ultimately, on December 20, 1996 guilty verdicts were returned as to each and every Count (R 912-7). Thereafter, the Defendant filed a Motion for New Trial (R 950-3).

Penalty phase proceedings were conducted in March 1997 ( R 1041-6; 1050; 1052). The jury rendered its advisory sentence, recommending death by a vote of seven (7) to five (5) ( R 1058-61). Thereafter, a <u>Spencer</u><sup>3</sup> hearing was conducted on July 1, 1997 ( R 1065).

Prior to sentencing, a sentencing memorandum was submitted by the defense (R 1072-83). Ultimately, on October 15, 1998, the court entered its sentencing order (R 1114-1126). Alex Pagan was sentenced to death by electrocution as to Counts I and II, and to life imprisonment as to Counts III, IV, V and VI. All Counts are to run consecutively. A Sentencing Guideline Scoresheet was filed the same date (R 1149). A Judgment and Restitution Order were likewise entered (R 1150-1). A Judgment was formally entered (R 1152-3).

A Notice of Appeal was timely filed on November 13, 1998 (R 1155). This

<sup>3</sup>Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

appeal ensues. Alex Pagan remains incarcerated at Union Correctional Institution in Raiford, Florida, on death row.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS.

The State of Florida presented evidence and testimony from several witnesses in its quest to establish Alex Pagan's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt in this case.

Edan Jacobs testified that he lived nearby the Jones residence on Ramona Street in Miramar, Florida (T 1490). Early in the morning on February 23, 1993, while lying in bed, Mr. Jacobs heard gunfire (T 1491). Mr. Jacobs, a paramedic with Metro Dade Fire Rescue, grabbed his trauma bag and a weapon, called 911, and ran outside his residence (T 1493). He saw a black female later learned to be Latoshia Jones covered in blood, screaming hysterically (T 1493). She shouted "they've shot my baby." He observed a gunshot wound to her head (T 1494). He took the baby, Lafayette Jones from her arms and started treating him. Although Mr. Jacobs heard a truck speeding away, he did not see the occupants (T 1492; 1504).

Miramar Police Office Craig Bonczek received a call from dispatch at 1:13 a.m. on February 23, 1993. He was traveling in a marked unit and along with Officer Morton were the first to arrive at the Jones residence on Ramona Street. The officers entered the residence and found a dead male adult and male child each hogtied in the master bedroom (T 1509; 1513; State Exhibit 2). Officer Cynthia Brown, a Miramar Police Canine Handler arrived at the scene. She too saw Latoshia Jones hysterical (T 1518-21).

Sergeant James Kammerer of the Broward Sheriffs Crime Scene Unit was the first person from the Sheriff's Department to arrive at the Jones' house on Ramona (T 1626). He walked the perimeter looking for any signs of physical evidence (T 1630). He noted that the location was wet, and that it had rained earlier (T 1630-1).

Inside the house, Sergeant Kammerer saw blood on the bed and shattered glass from the sliding glass window. He saw a bloody fingerprint on the wall (T 1632). Via Sergeant Kammerer, a video tape of the scene was introduced into evidence (T 1634; State Exhibit 9).

BSO Forensic Service Officer Charles Edel met the medical examiner, Dr. Ronald Wright, at the residence and observed the two (2) males who appeared to have died from gunshot wounds. The youngest, Michael Lynn,<sup>4</sup> was four (4) foot two (2) inches and weighed 71 pounds. The older man, Freddie Jones was five (5) foot nine (9) inches and approximately 200 pounds (T 1531). Officer Edel collected blood vials and gathered projectiles found alongside the decedents.

Latoshia Jones testified concerning the tragedy that occurred at her residence during the early morning hours of February 23, 1993. The day before, Latoshia

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Freddy Jones and Michael Lynn were identified by Tammy West who grew up with Freddy Jones and lived in Dania, Florida (T 1711-12).

Jones and her husband, Freddy Jones had gone house shopping in their Jeep Cherokee (T 2035-36). They took their two (2) children, Lafayette Jones and Michael Lynn with them. Latoshia Jones' husband Freddy, nicknamed "Laff," because of his full name Freddy Lafayette Jones, owned and operated "Lil Laff's Soul Food and Seafood Restaurant." (T 2039) Their child, Michael was six (6) years old (T 2040). After house shopping, the family ate, and Latoshia Jones fell asleep in front of the television. Ultimately, she went to bed with her husband and child, "Lil Laff." (T 2040)

Latoshia Jones was awakened by the sound of breaking glass (T 2042). Both she and her husband woke up. It was very dark inside the residence except for a light over the stove in another part of the house (T 2042). Latoshia Jones testified that she observed two (2) men, one on each side of the bed. They had masks on their faces and she could not see much of their bodies (T 2043). She heard one of the men say "Mr. Loffin - we heard you had \$12,000 or \$13,000 and we want it." (T 2044) One of the men was waving a gun around (T 2046). The man said he messed up the first time (T 2049). Latoshia Jones took the statement to be a reference to a burglary which had occurred at the Jones' residence approximately one (1) month earlier (T 2049). At that juncture, the "hyper one"<sup>5</sup> forced Latoshia Jones to take

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Believed to be Willie Graham.

him through the house at gunpoint (T 2051). She knew that there was money in the house, but was unable to locate the bag of money in the location she thought. While being led around by the "hyper one" it felt like he was wearing a glove (T 2052).

When Latoshia Jones was unable to locate the money, the "hyper one" hit her on the side of the face with his gun (T 2056). Ultimately, the "quiet one" told the "hyper one" to go get some rope (T 2060). She saw her husband tied up on his stomach but never saw her son Michael tied (T 2062). She heard the quiet one shoot her husband and heard him state to her son "if you live through this make sure you go to school every day. You son, you don't have to grow up like me." (T 2064)

Latoshia Jones saw the shots. She laid there and played like she was dead (T 2065). She heard her baby crying (T 2066). There was glass all over, including on the bed. She heard seven (7) to eight (8) shots (T 2068-69). She heard the robbers grab the keys to the Jones' truck as they took her Jeep Cherokee and left (T 2060; 2074). She ran next door and cried for help (T 2070).

Latoshia Jones told law enforcement that the home invaders were both approximately five (5) foot four (4) inches and of medium build (T 2236). She is five (5) foot two (2) inches or five (5) foot three (3) inches, so she felt that this was a good estimate of their height. Latoshia Jones testified that one of the culprits wore a beige trench coat and both wore masks. One (1) of the individuals had a high yellow tint or high red tint to his skin (T 2238-41). She admitted that she never met or saw Alex Pagan her entire life (T 2241).

Latoshia Jones admitted that she smoked marijuana the day before the incident (T 2243). She admitted that there was cocaine found at her residence. She likewise admitted knowing that her husband was thought to be having an affair with Dee Dee Mosley (T 2246). She had previously gotten angry at Dee Dee and slashed all four (4) of her tires (T 2247).

Immediately after the incident, Latoshia Jones did not believe that both of the Defendants were black males. After her memory was refreshed, she did recall a prior statement wherein she advised law enforcement that one (1) of the individuals had a New York accent (T 2249).

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