### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALEX PAGAN	
Appellant,	
vs.	CASE NO. SC94365
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	

### **ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE**

# ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

### **SCOTT A. BROWNE**

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0802743 Westwood center 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739 (813) 326-1292 (Fax)

**COUNSEL FOR STATE OF FLORIDA** 

#

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup>The prosecutor later noted that defense counsel did indeed depose McPhaul prior to her testifying for the State. (V-32, 3824).

First, Pagan asserts that the prosecutor made a comment suggesting that Pagan would go out and commit additional crimes if he was not convicted. (Appellant's Brief at 85). The State reads the comment in a different manner. The prosecutor was primarily addressing counsel's argument on the lack of physical evidence found at the scene of the home invasion murders. (V-27, 3218). The prosecutor was certainly entitled to point out that the crime was planned so that they would leave no trace, so that Graham and Pagan would not be caught. The prosecutor correctly pointed out that they wore masks, gloves, and generally tailored their actions to get away with these murders. (V-27, 3308). The prosecutor did not argue as defense counsel contends that the jury's job was to convict Pagan so he could not commit other crimes. As the prosecutor stated below in response to the objection: "I didn't say anything about him doing it again." (V-27, 3309). Consequently, defense counsel's objection was not in line with what the prosecutor had stated. While the trial court advised the prosecutor to watch his phraseology, she did not "hear what Mr. Colleran seemed to hear." (V-27, 3309).

Pagan also asserts that the prosecutor's comments violated the "Golden Rule." However, Pagan does not provide a page cite nor a quote wherein the prosecutor asked the jurors to place themselves in the victims' shoes. See Shaara v. State, 581 So.2d 1339, 1341 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)(A Golden rule argument is made when a prosecutor asks "the jurors to place themselves in the victim's position, [or] to think how they would feel if the crime happened to them.")(string citations omitted). And, the State cannot find an objection made to the argument below which made this specific allegation. Consequently, this aspect of Pagan's argument is not preserved for review.

Pagan next asserts that the prosecutor erred in commenting upon a camouflage

jacket and the fact that camouflage at that time was different based upon Desert Storm. This argument mirrors a claim made under issue f of Pagan's brief, which was responded to by the State under issue four. Rather than brief the same issue twice, the State will rely upon its earlier argument. Pagan has not established prosecutorial misconduct, much less shown that the alleged misconduct served to vitiate the entire trial.

#### XII.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING WITNESS KEITH JACKSON TO TESTIFY ABOUT HIS MOTIVATION FOR COOPERATING WITH THE POLICE? (STATED BY APPELLEE).

It must be remembered that Pagan was standing trial pursuant to an indictment charging him, and a co-defendant Willie Graham, with the premeditated murder of Michael Lynn and Freddie Lafayette Jones (R-1, 5). Testimony introduced at trial established that Michael was six-years-old. (V-17, 2040).

Keith Jackson testified for the State in which he noted that appellant acknowledged to the inquiry "did you kill a kid?" that "[h]e had to do it." (V-25, 3056). Pagan said he shot everybody in the house (V-25, 3057). Jackson entered a plea of guilty to attempted first degree murder on an unrelated case and armed robbery and is now awaiting sentence. (V-25, 3080-3081). His potential sentence is five years probation to ten years imprisonment. (V-25, 3082). The witness admitted that he was not completely forthright when he talked to police in February of 1993. (V-25, 3085-3086). At first, Jackson did not want to become involved, but his attitude changed. (V-25, 3086). When he went to the police he wanted to cooperate with them. (V-25,

3086-3087). Three years later, the charges against him were reinstated (V-25, 3087).

On cross-examination, the defense sought to impeach Jackson by inconsistent statements. (V-26, 3112-3147). The witness was asked whether in his dealings with the police they scared him and threatened to beat him. (V-26, 3137). On redirect, the prosecutor pursued defense counsel's inquiry about particular statements the witness had given to police in February of 1993. Jackson explained that he had not been expecting to encounter the detectives that night. (V-26, 3149-3150). The witness added that he did not want to become a witness against Willie Graham or Pagan, based on some feelings of loyalty towards them. (V-26, 3151). He was told from the start by detectives that he was not a suspect in this homicide case. (V-26, 3152-3153). Since giving his two statements on February 26 and March 4 of 1993 he had a lot of time to give those matters some thought. (V-25, 3154). When asked "[h]ave you given the death of that six year old and his father a lot of thought?", the defense objected on relevance grounds. The Court sustained the objection. The defense moved for a mistrial. (V-26, 3154). The Court stated it had sustained objection because the questions were leading and denied the mistrial request. (V-26, 3154-3155). The witness testified that he had a change in attitude when he saw a picture of the little boy that got shot. Jackson felt they did wrong and he should tell the police. (V-26, 3159-3160).

This Court has repeatedly stated that a ruling on a motion for mistrial is within the trial court's discretion and that a mistrial is appropriate only where the error is so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial. See generally Thomas v. State, 748 So.2d 970 (Fla. 1999); Snipes v. State, 733 So.2d 1000 (Fla. 1999); Hamilton v. State, 703 So.2d 1038 (Fla. 1997).

In the instant case, the trial court properly sustained a defense objection based on the leading nature of the prosecutor's inquiry; obviously, it was not a manifest legal necessity to stop the proceeding with the drastic action of a mistrial. Any contention the defense might make that the testimony was not relevant is meritless. Pagan was standing trial for the murder of a six year old child, the witness had been examined and cross-examined as to any motive he might have in testifying and in making his various prior statements. Jackson could permissibly state the reasons for any change in his prior statements. See Chandler v. State, 702 So.2d 186 (Fla. 1997).

#### XIII.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE MEDICAL EXAMINER TO TESTIFY CONCERNING THE LIKELIHOOD OF INJURY AS A RESULT OF BREAKING THROUGH A SLIDING GLASS DOOR? (STATED BY APPELLEE).

Pagan argues that the trial court improperly allowed the medical examiner to testify regarding his opinion on the injuries likely received as a result of breaking through glass at the victims' home. (Appellant's Brief at 88). The State disagrees.

Dr. Wright testified that he worked at the Department of Pathology, University of Miami, and the University of Miami Jackson Memorial Hospital in the Veteran's Administration. (V-15, 1714). Previously, Dr. Wright had been a chief medical examiner in the State of Vermont, giving him a total of twenty six years experience in forensic medicine. (V-15, 1720). From 1980 to 1994 Dr. Wright was under contract as the district medical examiner of Broward County. (V-15, 1714). Over the past fifteen or twenty years he was called to testify more than one thousand times in court as an expert in the filed of forensic pathology. (V-15, 1716).

Dr. Wright testified that his education included studying the kinds of injuries that human contact with glass might produce. (V-15, 1718). Standard study in the field of pathology included comparisons of injuries a person might receive when coming into contact with glass. (V-15, 1718). Dr. Wright testified that in addition to his education concerning human contact with glass, he has practical experience that spans thirteen years as a result of his experience at the district medical examiner's office. (V-15, 1719-1720).

Section 90.702, Florida Statutes (1999), provides:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact in understanding the evidence or in determining a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education may testify about it in the form of an opinion; however, the opinion is admissible only if it can be applied to evidence at trial.

"A trial court has broad discretion in determining the range of subjects on which an expert witness can testify, and, absent a clear showing of error, the court's ruling on such matters will be upheld." Finney v. State, 660 So.2d 674, 682 (Fla. 1995), cert.denied, 116 S.Ct. 823, 133 L.Ed.2d 766 (1996). See also., Geralds v. State, 674 So.2d 96, 100 (Fla. 1996); Ramirez v. State, 542 So.2d 352, 355 (Fla. 1989). The State properly developed Dr. Wright's qualifications to render an opinion on whether someone would be injured as a result of breaking through a sliding glass door. Consequently, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing Dr. Wright to render an opinion in this case.

Pagan asserts that Dr. Wright's opinion evidence cannot withstand the <u>Frye</u> analysis. However, Pagan did not raise this argument below when he objected to this testimony. (V-22, 1724). Consequently, this argument has been waived on appeal. <u>Steinhorst</u> 412 So.2d at 338. In any case, the <u>Frye</u> analysis does not apply in this

case.

In <u>Ramirez v. State</u>, 651 So.2d 1164 (Fla. 1995), this Court explained that the principal inquiry under the <u>Frye</u> test is whether the scientific theory or discovery from which an expert derives an opinion is reliable. The <u>Frye</u> analysis should only be used when it concerns a new or novel scientific principal. Pagan has offered no evidence to suggest that Dr. Wright employed a novel scientific principal in testifying that it was unlikely a person would be injured breaking through the glass found at the victims' residence. Dr. Wright properly gave his expert opinion on whether someone could be injured while breaking through a sliding glass door because as a medical examiner, he has encountered injuries sustained from various types of glass. (V-15, 1724). The <u>Frye</u> analysis is inapplicable.

Assuming, *arguendo*, any error in admission of Dr. Wright's testimony, the error is harmless in this case. There was no physical evidence left at the scene to suggest the perpetrator was injured by breaking through the sliding glass door. Quezada testified that he did not observe Graham or Pagan with any injuries after the home invasion. Nor did they complain of any injuries. (V-22, 2522-23). The medical examiner's testimony merely confirmed that breaking the type of glass found in the victims' house would not likely cause any significant injury. The error, if any, is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d at 1135.

#### XIV.

## WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING TESTIMONY RELATING TO A VOICE LINEUP? (STATED BY APPELLEE).

Pagan did not make a contemporaneous objection to the testimony regarding the voice line-up. In fact, it was defense counsel on cross-examination of Latasha who brought up the voice line up and her failure to positively identify the voice of Mr. Pagan. Since Pagan did not object to this testimony below, and, in fact, brought it out before the jury, he cannot raise the issue now on appeal. More than mere waiver, this issue is subject to the invited error doctrine. This Court observed in <u>Goodwin v. State</u>, 751 So.2d 537, 544 (Fla. 1999), that when an "error is 'invited' of the defendant 'opens the door' to the error, the appellate court will not consider the error a basis for reversal."

Pagan erroneously states in his brief that "Latoshia Jones was permitted to testify on redirect examination that although she [was] unable to identify anyone from the voice line-up, she thought it was individual number 2 (T 2272)." (Appellant's Brief at 93). The testimony to which Pagan refers was elicited by the appellant on recross examination, not by the State on redirect examination. As Pagan cites, the testimony in question is on page 2272 of the transcript. However, redirect examination ended on page 2268 of the transcript.

The trial court warned defense counsel that he was exceeding the scope of redirect examination in asking Latasha about the voice line-up. (V-19, 2267-2269). Nonetheless, immediately following this warning, defense counsel proceeded to initiate his line of questioning regarding Latasha Jones' participation in the voice line-up. (V-19, 2269). The following is the testimony of Latasha Jones which defense

counsel elicited and now seeks reversal on:

- Q. Okay. But after the test was finished you didn't feel like you could recognize any of the six voices, correct?
- A. No, I told the policeman that I wasn't sure. I thought it was number 2. (V-19, 2271-2).

Thus, the record clearly shows that Latasha Jones' testimony regarding the voice line-up was elicited by defense counsel during recross examination. (V-19, 2269-76). Further, it is clear from the record that the trial court warned defense counsel that he was exceeding the scope of the State's redirect and opening the door to the testimony regarding the voice line-up. (V-19, 2268-9). Defense counsel disregarded the Court's admonition and proceeded to introduce the testimony anyway. (V-19, 2269-76). Appellant now argues that the trial court erred by allowing the testimony, and erroneously asserts that the State was responsible for introducing the testimony. This argument is patently without merit.<sup>32</sup>

#### XV.

## WHETHER PAGAN HAS DEMONSTRATED CUMULATIVE ERROR REQUIRING REVERSAL OF HIS CONVICTIONS? (STATED BY APPELLEE).

Pagan's next claim [sub-issue P] asserts that the combined effect of all alleged errors in this case warrants a reversal of his convictions. Although this may be a legitimate claim on the facts of a particular case, such facts are not present herein, as it is contingent upon Pagan's demonstrating error in at least two of the other claims

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup>In any case, Pagan has not identified any significant defect in the lineup which resulted in a substantial likelihood of misidentification. Moreover, any error in the admission of such testimony would clearly be harmless in this case. Latasha'a tentative identification of Pagan by voice was not a substantial factor in his conviction.

presented on appeal. For the reasons previously discussed, he has not done so. Melendez v. State, 718 So.2d 746, 749 (Fla. 1998)(where claims were either meritless or procedurally barred, there was no cumulative effect to consider) and Johnson v. Singletary, 695 So.2d 263, 267 (Fla. 1996)(no cumulative error where all issues which were not barred were meritless.) Thus, the claim must be rejected because none of the allegations demonstrate any error, individually or collectively

Even if Pagan were able to establish multiple errors sufficient to warrant a cumulative error analysis, reversal is not mandated where there is no reasonable possibility that the alleged errors contributed to the conviction. In <u>Delgado v. State</u>, 25 Fla.L.Weekly S79 (Feb. 3, 2000), this Court explained:

Because we find multiple errors, we must consider whether even though there was competent substantial evidence to support a verdict ... and even though each of the alleged errors, standing alone, could be considered harmless, the cumulative effect of such errors was such as to deny to defendant the fair and impartial trial that is the inalienable right of all litigants in this state and this nation.

Seaboard Air Line R.R. Co. v. Ford, 92 So.2d 160, 165 (Fla.1956) (on rehearing). In making this determination, we follow the analysis utilized by the Court in Jackson. First, we conclude that none of the errors in this case were fundamental. Second, had these errors not been committed, the jury still would have heard evidence of the two brutal murders in this case. Therefore, considering the weight of the errors and the magnitude of the totality of the evidence against appellant, we find that there is no reasonable possibility that the errors in this case contributed to the conviction. See id. <u>Delgado v. State</u>, 2000 WL 124382 (Fla. 2000)(citing <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 575 So.2d 181, 189 (Fla.1991)).

As Pagan has not demonstrated fundamental error and there is no reasonable possibility that the alleged errors in this case contributed to the conviction, no relief is warranted.

#### XVI.

## WHETHER THE DEATH SENTENCE RECOMMENDED BY THE JURY AND IMPOSED BY THE TRIAL COURT IS DISPROPORTIONATE TO OTHER DEATH CASES IN THIS STATE?

Pagan's final claim disputes the proportionality of his death sentence. The State disagrees. When factually similar cases are compared to the instant case, the proportionality of appellant's sentence is evident.

#### A. Standard of Review

This Court has described the "proportionality review" conducted by this Court in every death case as follows:

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